FILED SID J. WHITE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLIME COUNT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

APR 7 1992

WILLIAM EARL SWEET,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,629

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The appellant in this capital case is William Sweet. The record on appeals consists of 28 volumes. References to the transcript of the trial and other proceedings will be by the usual letter "T." References to the record will be by the letter "R."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An amended indictment filed in the circuit court for Duval County on March 21, 1991 charged William Sweet with one count of first degree murder, three counts of attempted first degree murder, and one count of burglary with an assault or battery (R 182-86). He pled not guilty to those charges (Volume 5, p. 7), and over the next several months he and the state filed several motions or notices relevant to this appeal:

- a. Three motions in limine to prevent the defendant from arguing or introducing evidence regarding 1) the insufficiency of the allegations in the indictment regarding felony murder, 2) the sentences Sweet faced if convicted of the non-capital offenses, 3) the nature of the offenses pending against Solomon Hansberry, a state witness, and 4. the drug usage of the victim (R 179-180, 193-205, 206-207, 219). The court granted all of these requests (R 181, 260, 261, 262).
- b. Pro se Motion to Dismiss (R 151-152, 189-190), which the state traversed (R 153).
- c. Motion to suppress out-of-court identification of Sweet by one of the victims (R 215-16). Granted (T 656).

Sweet was tried before the honorable Frederick Tygart and was found guilty as charged on every count (R 354-58). He proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial, and after hearing further evidence from the state and defense, the jury recommended death by a 10-2 vote (R 370).

The court followed that vote, and it sentenced Sweet to death. In aggravation, the court found:

a. The defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of use of violence.

- b. The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest.
- c. The murder was committed during the course of a burglary.
- d. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(R 391-404).

In mitigation, the court found that Sweet lacked "parental guidance in his formative years as a teenager." (R 406)

On the other convictions, the court found Sweet to have been an habitual violent felon, and he sentenced him to four consecutive life sentences with a mandatory minimum sentence of fifteen years on each of the non-capital crimes (R 386-89).

This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Marcine Cofer sold cocaine from her apartment in

Jacksonville (T 530). On June 6, 1990 she was there and "kind
of sleepy" when she heard someone knocking on her door.

Thinking it was her boyfriend, she opened it and three men, two
of whom she recognized (T 530), barged in (T 529). They beat
her, shot a gun and threw her onto the floor where they stepped
on her. They demanded to know where money, jewelry, and the
cocaine were, and once they found it, they left (T 529).

Although Cofer never identified Sweet as one of her robbers,
the defendant, in a joking manner, sometime after the robbery
told a friend of Cofer's that he had robbed Cofer, had had
her robbed, or denied doing the crime at all (T 911-13).

Cofer called the police and reported the robbery. About three weeks later, on June 26, a policeman brought her to the police station to look at some photographs (T 532). After doing so, the officer returned her to her apartment, and when he dropped her off several people apparently were milling about (T 604). Sweet walked past her and acted rude (T 545-46).

That evening Cofer was in her apartment, and because she was afraid, having been robbed almost three weeks earlier, she asked if some neighbor children, Felicia and Sharon Bryant, could stay with her (T 508). Apparently their mother, Mattie Mae Bryant, agreed because shortly the two girls and their baby sister showed up and came inside (T 508).

Sometime during the evening Cofer went to her bedroom to sleep, and the girls stayed in the living room, watching TV.

About 1 a.m. Sharon woke Cofer up and told her that someone had kicked the front door "real hard." (T 508) She dozed off, but Sharon returned a few minutes later and said someone was turning the porch light off and on and opening and closing Cofer's bedroom window (T 509). Cofer got out of bed, went to the living room, and looked out the peephole in the front door. She saw the defendant, who called her by name and told her to open the front door (T 509, 511).

Scared, Cofer asked Sharon to get her mother, and she did so by banging on the bathroom wall, which was also the wall of her mother's apartment. A few minutes later, Mattie Bryant came into Cofer's apartment. They decided they would go to Bryant's home, and they lined up at the front door, prepared to go (T 514-15). Cofer had a .25 caliber gun, which did not work, and Mattie had a knife (T 515, 518). Felicia opened the door to leave, but Sweet stepped inside with a pair of pants over his head (T 516). He immediately began shooting a gun he The women scattered, but Cofer was hit in the thigh (T 516), Sharon "in the butt (T 631), Mattie in the hip and ankle (T 733), and Felicia was shot twice in the abdomen (T 687-88). After having fired six shots, Sweet left the apartment (T 786). He was arrested a day later at his home (T 843-50). While in a booking cell, he told another inmate that "If I knew this was going to happen, I would have killed them all." (T 943)

Felicia Bryant died from her wounds (T 687).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Sweet presents two guilt phase and four penalty phase arguments for this court to consider. In the first issue, the defendant claims that the trial court erred in failing to conduct the hearing required by <a href="#Faretta v. California">Faretta v. California</a>, when he unequivocably requested to "fire" his lawyer and go to trial. Instead, the court was more concerned about having this court reverse Sweet's conviction if it allowed him to be his own lawyer. It made little inquiry of whether Sweet knowingly and intelligently wanted to go to trial without a lawyer.

At trial, the court admitted evidence of a robbery of Marcine Cofer about three weeks before the murder. It did so under the theory that Sweet inadvertently killed Felicia Bryant instead of Cofer because he wanted to silence Cofer. Such a theory was built on several inferences, which not only were not proven, but which also did not unalterably point to this motive.

The court said Sweet committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Yet that the victim was Felicia Bryant rather than Cofer is evidence that the killing was not methodically planned. Also, the virtual random shooting and non-life threatening injuries suffered by Cofer and the other victims, except for Felicia, is proof that Sweet had not calculated plan to kill Bryant.

The court also said Sweet killed Felicia to avoid lawful arrest. While that is a possibility, the state did not present

the strong evidence required that this was the only or dominant motive for the murder. This conclusion follows when it is realized that Sweet did not methodically kill everyone in the apartment. Instead, he apparently fired random shots.

Moreover, when he left, he must have known that Cofer and the other victims were alive. Such knowledge negates the conclusion that he killed Felicia knowing that others, and particularly Cofer were alive when he left her apartment.

The court, over defense objection, admitted evidence of Sweet's prior conviction of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon to establish his record of having a prior violent felony conviction. That was error because that crime is not one of inherent violence, and Sweet was never charged or convicted for any violent crime out of which the possession charge arose.

Finally, the court, finding Sweet to be an habitual violent felony offender, sentenced him to four consecutive live sentences with the provision that on each sentence he had to serve a minimum mandatory sentence of fifteen years. This court's opinion in <a href="Daniels v. State">Daniels v. State</a>, Case No. 77,853 (Fla. February 20, 1992) prohibits the stacking of minimum mandatory sentences arising out of the same criminal episode. Likewise, the court erred ordering Sweet to serve his life sentences consecutively. Such terms of imprisonment must be served concurrently.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT SWEET'S PERSONAL REQUEST TO GO TO TRIAL AND WHEN IT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INQUIRE WHETHER HE WANTED TO REPRESENT HIMSELF.

During one of the several pretrial hearings in this case, counsel for Sweet asked the court to continue the case so he could finish his preparations for trial (T 25). Sweet objected to the continuance; instead he wanted to "go ahead and go to trial." (T 26) The court, interpreting this request as one to represent himself, told Sweet that if he desired to represent himself, they could go to trial "this week." (T 26) Sweet, somewhat unsure of what that meant, wanted his lawyer to "go with [him]", but the court told the defendant that he was not ready. It also told Sweet that he could either have a lawyer or represent himself, and Sweet, when faced with those alternatives said that if his counsel could not represent him "today and go to trial" then he would "take my chances and just go ahead and go to trial." (T 28)

After some further questioning about Sweet's motives for wanting to go to trial so quickly, the court asked the defendant the following:

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Sweet, I don't think you're capable of representing yourself because you don't understand anything that happens at a trial, do you? Have you been through a jury trial before?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Where was that?

THE DEFENDANT: Judge Olliff's court with Mr. Bledsoe.

THE COURT: Who was your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: Richard Deen.

THE COURT: What happened there?

THE DEFENDANT: They dropped the case. I got time for another case. I got put in the jail house.

THE COURT: So they dropped the case and you didn't go to trial.

THE DEFENDANT: I went all the way through trial but it was mistrial. The jury had deliberated. They didn't come up with a verdict.

THE COURT: Mr. Sweet, under the circumstances I'm afraid that if I don't grant Mr. Gazaleh's [defense counsel's]; motion for continuance and proceed to trial I'm going to waste everybody's; time because the Supreme Court is going to send it right back here to be tried again and you're not going to get this thing dispose. It's going to take longer.

(T 29-30).

Undeterred, Sweet reiterated his desire to go to trial, even if it meant representing himself.

THE DEFENDANT: Excuse me. Can you fire him and can we go to trial then? I cannot wait, set here for the first of the year.

THE COURT: I don't want to try your case twice, Mr. Sweet. I only want to try it once.

THE DEFENDANT: I'm ready to go to trial. If we talking about the first of the year that ain't that much time to get no case going. Go ahead and fire him and then we go to trial.

THE COURT: We'll set the case for January the 14th for jury trial.

MR. GAZALEH: Thank you, Your Honor. (T 31-32).

From this dialog, Sweet clearly wanted to go to trial, with or without the assistance of counsel, and the trial court erred in not properly inquiring if Sweet desired to represent himself. Its cursory inquiry pertained only to tangentially relevant issues, and nowhere did the court ask any questions or make any determination that the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel so that he could represent himself as required by <a href="Faretta v. California">Faretta v. California</a>, 422 U.S. 806, 95 C.T. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975) and Rule 3.111(d) Fla. R. Crim. P.

The first question, however, is whether Sweet unequivocally requested to represent himself because he must do so before the trial court has the obligation to make the <a href="#Faretta">Faretta</a> inquiry. Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1988). Fortunately, in this case, Sweet repeatedly told the court that he not only wanted to go to trial immediately, but that he was willing to do so without a lawyer. His last words to the court nicely captured this sentiment. "Go ahead and fire him [defense counsel] and then we go to trial." (T 31) In Hardwick, this court said that such efforts to remove counsel was good evidence the defendant wants to represent himself.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ Sweet made a similar request two months later. He wanted a new lawyer and a speedy trial (T 51-55). The court denied both requests (T 55).

"We recognize that, when one such as appellant attempts to dismiss his court-appointed counsel, it is <u>presumed</u> that he is exercising his right to self representation." <u>Id</u>. at 1074. (cite omitted, emphasis supplied.) In this case, the defendant's repeated desires to be rid of his lawyer indicates, in an unequivocal way that he wanted to represent himself.

The trial court itself realized this when, in response to Sweet's request, it said, "If you want to fire him [defense counsel] and represent yourself that's your privilege." (T 27) Thus, the trial court recognized what the law also dictates: Sweet had clearly requested to represent himself.

The only remaining question focuses on the court's inquiry into whether Sweet knowingly and intelligently wanted to represent himself. The answer to that question is governed by the <a href="#faretta">Faretta</a>, <a href="mailto:supra">supra</a>, and <a href="Rule 3.111">Rule 3.111</a> (d) Fla. R. Crim. P.

In <u>Faretta</u>, the nation's high court held that a defendant must be allowed to represent himself if he knowingly and intelligently waived the benefits of counsel.

Although a defendant need not himself have the skill and experience of a lawyer in order [to] competently and intelligently choose self-representation, he should be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that 'he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.'" Id. at 835.

The court also specifically ruled that a defendant's technical proficiency in the rules of evidence or procedure could not enter into the determination of the validity of the waiver.

The trial judge should focus, in short, upon ascertaining

whether the defendant was "voluntarily exercising his informed free will" by choosing to represent himself. Id.

Rule 3.111(d) provides more details to guide the court:

- (2) A defendant shall not be deemed to have waived the assistance of counsel until the entire process of offering counsel has been completed and a thorough inquiry into accused's comprehension of that offer and his capacity to make that choice intelligently and understandingly has been made.
- (3) No waiver shall be accepted where it appears that the defendant is unable to make an intelligent and understanding choice because of his mental condition, age, education, experience, the nature or complexity of the case, or other factors.<sup>2</sup>

In this case, the court asked Sweet if he had any witnesses subpoenaed (no), if he knew who the state was going to call as witnesses against him (the state had no witnesses), and if he had been through a jury trial before (T 28-29). As to this last question, Sweet said that he had, but the case had been "dropped" because the jury was deadlocked. Even though Sweet may have lacked the experience of a lawyer, and may have not realized what the state was prepared to prove, he nevertheless knew what he wanted to do, even after the court had questioned him regarding his preparation for trial. As the United States Supreme Court has emphasized, technical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>To the extent, the rule gives some emphasis to the defendant's familiarity with the courts, i.e. "experience," it improperly demands more than <u>Faretta</u> identified was within the scope of the court's inquiry.

competence is irrelevant; the only issue is whether the defendant is making his decision with his "eyes open." The court's questions did not determine that issue, and not only was the inquiry actually made largely irrelevant, focussing upon Sweet's legal skills, it avoided the issues mandated by the rule and case law.

Nowhere did the court ask how old the defendant was, his level of education, or his mental status, all pertinent and required by Rule 3.111(d) and implied by <u>Faretta</u>. At no time did the court point out the dangers and disadvantages of self representation or that he would be giving up certain rights and would not be able to demand a new trial because his own ineffectiveness. <u>Faretta</u>, at 835; <u>Jones v. State</u>, 449 So.2d 253, 256 (Fla. 1984).

The court obviously was concerned that the defendant was making a bad decision by choosing to represent himself because this was a capital case. "If you want to fire him and represent yourself that's your privilege. But I think it's probably a short walk to the electric chair to do that and that you're going to have lawyers working against you." (T 27) The possibility of Sweet receiving a death sentence, however, is not a factor the court should have considered because this court has affirmed such penalty for several defendant's who have represented themselves. Diaz v. State, 513 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1987); Muhammad v. State, 494 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1986); Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986); Jones v. State, 499 So.2d 253; Downs v. State, 572 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1991). Even

where the stakes are so high, this court has consistently refused to let the state force the defendant to follow a course he does not want to take.

Assume, however, that the court had made an adequate inquiry. Is there anything in Sweet's answers showing that he could not represent himself? The court had already found Sweet competent to stand trial (R 314). In Muhammad, supra, this court held that if a defendant was competent to stand trial, he was competent to represent himself. "If one may be intellectually incompetent in legal skills yet waive counsel, then no standard of mental competency beyond competence to stand trial is required. Id. at 975. In Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), the defendant waived his right to counsel, and this court approved that choice, following a rationale that closely followed that of the United States Supreme Court in Faretta: "In the field of criminal law, there is no doubt that 'death is different,' but, in the final analysis, all competent defendants have a right to control their own destinies." Hamblen, at 804. Thus, if Sweet was competent to decide to represent himself, and there was no evidence or inquiry to show that he was not, the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The appellant's mental competency was obviously material, and the court would have been justified in denying Sweet's request to represent himself if he had had a history of mental problems. Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986).

had no discretion, but it was required by law to allow him to do so. $^4$ 

The trial court, thus, made two errors. It conducted an inadequate <u>Faretta</u> inquiry as to Sweet's knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel. Assuming, on the other hand, that the truncated inquiry was adequate, the court erred in not letting the defendant represent himself because the evidence, what there is, shows the defendant wanted to persist in his course despite the problems the court presented him with if he was his own lawyer.

This court should reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The only discretion the court has in matters such as this are to determine what the "facts" were. It has no discretion regarding whether to let a defendant represent himself once it has determined that he has knowingly and intelligently made the decision to represent himself.

### ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE COFER HAD BEEN ROBBED THREE WEEKS BEFORE THE MURDER OF BRYANT AND THAT SWEET MAY HAVE PARTICIPATED IN THE EARLIER CRIME.

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