FILED

MAY 18 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM EARL SWEET,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,629

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

It would have been fundamentally unjust to allow Sweet to go to trial unprepared, without witnesses, and under the delusion that the state had no witnesses. Sweet clearly did not appreciate his situation. That, plus the equivocal nature of his "request," precludes relief.

(3) ACCEPTANCE OF COUNSEL

The concept of harmless error applies to Faretta cases in which the defendant ultimately accepts counsel and goes to trial.

Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir.1988). Here, Sweet never really wanted to go to trial alone, he accepted

The hearings in question were held on November 5 and 28, 1990. At the time no competency evaluation had been performed. In May 1991, Sweet was evaluated and found to be sane and competent. That, however, is a "factor" that was not available in 1990. (R 312-314).

representation by attorneys Adam and Moore, he withdrew his prose motions at counsel's request (T 62, 63) and went to trial.

Mr. Sweet's appeal offers an argument without a rational remedy. Sweet has not alleged or shown that, given a new trial, he would proceed pro se. In point of fact, our record indicates that Sweet would probably ask for the assistance of counsel for any new trial. Therefore, other than as a vehicle to abuse the system, Sweet's "Faretta" claim is pointless and any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986).

ARGUMENT: ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE RELATING TO THE MOTIVE FOR THE APPELLANT'S CRIMES.

On April 11, 1991, the state filed a factual stipulation with the trial court outlining Mr. Sweet's connections with the June 6, 1990 robbery and the events of June 26 and 27, 1991. (R 240).

On May 21, 1991, on the first day of trial, the defense raised an oral motion in limine to exclude this evidence as prejudicial. (T 458-78). Argument was permitted and the motion was denied. The Appellant preserved the issue with additional objections during trial.

The Appellant, after confessing that evidence of motive is admissible under § 90.404, Fla. Stat. (1990), 3 argues that the "Williams Rule" evidence at bar should have been excluded because

See Williams v. State. 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.1959); Mackiewicz v. State, 114 So.2d 684 (Fla.1959).

it was circumstantial and because it also "prejudiced" him during the penalty phase.

The evidence, as summarized in the stipulation and shown by the record, was as follows:

- (1) Marcene Cofer was a drug dealer.
- (2) On June 6, 1990, she was robbed by three men, two of whom she knew as Vince and "Funky Larry." She could not identify the third.
- (3) On June 26, 1990, Marcene went with the police to review mug shots.
- (4) When she was brought back to her apartment by the police, she was seen by Mr. Sweet, who was "rude" to her.
- (5) That night Sweet came to her apartment and committed the shooting at bar. (This is not stipulated beyond the mere fact that the shooting took place).
- (6) Sweet told Manuella Roberts that he participated in the June 6, 1990 robbery or that he "had it done."
- (7) Sweet told Solomon Hansbury (after his arrest) that he thought "Funky Larry" (a robber) would be blamed for the shooting and that he would have killed everyone had he thought he would be arrested. (T 943).

On appeal, Sweet contends that this evidence does qualify as "Williams Rule" evidence because it is "circumstantial" and, in turn, requires the "stacking inferences."

This evidence was "circumstantial" but was augmented by two key factors ignored by Sweet's brief. First, Sweet's admission of guilt to Manuella Roberts regarding the prior robbery is not "circumstantial" evidence. It is direct evidence which corroborates the remaining circumstantial evidence. Second, Sweet was positively identified as the gunman, thus linking him to both the June 6 and June 26-27 crimes.

Circumstantial evidence is, by its very nature, evidence which requires the trier of fact to draw conclusions. The rule of admissibility governing such evidence is that each individual piece of circumstantial evidence is not required to be able, standing alone, to establish guilt. State v. Fischer, 387 So.2d 473 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). In fact, the jury is specifically allowed to consider the defendant's conduct before and after the crime in assessing motive and intent. Cooper v. Wainwright, 308 So.2d 182 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975); Pace v. State, ____ So.2d___, 17 FLW S205 (Fla.1992).

Citing old or easily distinguishable cases, Mr. retreats into the semantic morass of contrasting "the stacking of inferences" with the use of circumstantial evidence. We submit that Mr. Sweet's theory, if accepted, would offend the evidence code by essentially prohibiting the use of circumstantial evidence simply because such evidence requires the use of "inferences." The law is clearly contrary to Sweet's position. "Motive," "intent" and other essentially intangible elements of a criminal offense (such as "agreement") may be proven circumstantial evidence. State v. Fischer, supra; Manner v. State, 387 So.2d 1014 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Borders v. State, 312 So.2d 247 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975); Cooper v. Wainwright, supra; Randolph v. State, 463 So.2d 186 (Fla.1984).

Circumstantial evidence must be sufficient to exclude any reasonable hypotheses of innocence. The operative word is "reasonable," Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla.1986) and the state is not required to offer evidence that refutes lesser

hypotheses. Of course, the issue of what is "reasonable" is to be decided by the jury - not an appellate court, Huff v. State, id; Songer v. State, 322 So.2d 481 (Fla.1975), so appellate speculation (such as Mr. Sweet's brief) is irrelevant.

Mr. Sweet says that no inferences can be drawn from the June 6 robbery because he was not charged or convicted for that offense. A conviction was not necessary, see, e.g., Randolph v. State, supra; Cotita v. State, 381 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), particularly when, as here, the motive for the murder was to eliminate a witness and thus avoid prosecution.

Second, Sweet alleges that Cofer's failure to identify him when they met on the street (with the police present) somehow removes any motive which could be inferred from the robbery. This contention ignores the fact that three men were involved in the June 6 robbery, and Cofer's identification of anyone could result in the arrest of everyone. Therefore, Sweet could not rely upon this "fact." In this regard, we would note Sweet's comment to Solomon Hansbury that he wanted "Funky Larry" (a known participant in the June 6 robbery) to take the fall for any shooting of Ms. Cofer.

Third, Sweet opines that the mere act of meeting with the police did not "prove" Cofer was even reporting the robbery. This suggestion illogically ignores the fact that Ms. Cover was a crack cocaine dealer who arguably had little desire for police contact - particularly at her home.

Since Sweet was positively identified as the shooter, and thus was linked to both the June 6 and June 26 crimes, this case

is unlike Hall v. State, 500 So.2d 661 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). In Hall, the defendant asked the victim for money before the victim was killed but was not linked to the shooting.

Sweet's cited case of Benson v. State, 526 So.2d 948 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988) also fails to support his position since Benson specifically allows the "stacking of inferences" when certain circumstantial inferences have been established beyond reasonable doubt. Here, we know that Ms. Cofer was robbed, we know three men did it, we know Sweet saw her talking to the police and we know that Sweet attacked her and her guests that very night. We also have direct admissions against penal interest to third parties by Mr. Sweet. Little, if any, "stacking" was necessary in this case.

Finally, Sweet contends that proof of motive should not have been permitted because it prejudiced him during the penalty phase. This argument was rejected in Randolph v. State, supra, and is not worthy of further discussion. The fact that guilt phase evidence "prejudices" a defendant at a future sentencing is not grounds for exclusion. Randolph.

The evidence at bar was valid Williams Rule evidence which established the defendant's motive for attacking Ms. Cofer's apartment. No other reasonable interpretation of the evidence has even been suggested, much less established. Since the "circumstantial" evidence at bar was augmented by direct evidence in the form of admissions and eyewitness testimony, the trial court did not err in allowing the defendant's motive to be established by partially circumstantial "Williams rule" evidence.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THIS MURDER WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED.

Although Felicia Bryant was the victim of "transferred intent," that fact does not preclude a finding of cold, calculated and premeditated murder. Provenzano v. State, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla.1986). The key to any review of this factor is the level of preparation, not the success or failure of the plan. Provenzano, id.

It is clear from the record that evidentiary support exists for this factor even if Mr. Sweet would interpret the evidence in a different manner.

First, Sweet's motive was to eliminate a potential witness in a pending robbery investigation. Although Ms. Cofer could not identify Sweet, she knew his partners. Witness elimination is a factor supporting the application of CCP. See Herring v. State, 446 So.2d (Fla.1982); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla.1987); Stokes v. State, 548 So.2d 188 (Fla.1989); Rutherford v. State, 545 So.2d 855 (Fla.1989); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla.1983).

Second, prior to the killing, Sweet procured a gun and a mask. This corresponds to similar preparations in Lamb v. State, 532 So.2d 1051 (Fla.1988); Maharaj v. State, So.2d ____, 17 FLW S201 (Fla.1992); Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825 (Fla.1988); and Koon v. State, 515 So.2d 1253 (Fla.1987).

Third, Sweet opted to murder his intended victim late at night, to minimize the chance of detection (so that "Funky Larry" would be accused).

Fourth, upon entering the apartment Sweet immediately began shooting, thus proving that his intent all along was to kill.

Fifth, Sweet had ample time to consider and plan the assault. See Rutherford v. State, 545 So.2d 853 (Fla.1989).

Offering nothing more than a strained interpretation of the record, Sweet alleges:

(1) Although "transferred intent" applies, it shouldn't be applied because the shooting was "haphazard."

Sweet argues (at pg. 24) that not everyone died, so therefore, anyone who did die was not murdered with premeditation. This is nonsense. There is no nexus between "intent" and "shooting skill" and Sweet cites no authority for the proposition.

Felicia Bryant was the first person confronted by Sweet as he kicked open the door and started firing. Since the apartment was Ms. Cofer's, it is only logical to assume that Sweet expected her, not Bryant, to be at the door. Thus, the fact that she received the fatal shots was not entirely haphazard.

(2) "No one else died."

Again, all facts and inferences must be taken in favor of the sentence. Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla.1980).

The fact that other occupants of Cofer's apartment survived their wounds has no logical nexus with the question of whether Sweet planned the attack. The defendant was convicted, after all, of three counts of attempted murder and the applicability of the CCP factor has never been contingent upon the success of the plan.

It should be noted, however, that Sweet told Solomon Hansbury that he expected "Funky Larry" to take the blame for the attack. (R 401). Again, if this is true then it indicates that Sweet, who wore a mask, was primarily concerned with Ms. Cofer.

At (R 404) the Court noted that Sweet, upon entering Cofer's apartment (with a loaded six-shot revolver) may have found more people than he expected. Thus, Sweet had insufficient ammunition to finish his victims. Again, this "error" does not defeat application of the CCP factor.

(3) "The defendant didn't select the time because he saw a witness."

Again, a "logical" non-sequitur appears on page 25 of the brief. Sweet selected the time of his attack without having any "psychic foreknowledge" that Mattie Bryant would go to Cofer's apartment. Sweet saw Mattie, left, came back and shot everyone. The presence of an unforeseeable circumstance does not defeat CCP and, once again, Sweet cites to no authority for his proposition.

The CCP factor was properly applied to the only logical inferences that can be drawn from this record.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THIS MURDER WAS COMMITTED TO AVOID OR PREVENT ARREST.

On page 27 of his brief, Sweet confesses that the aggravating factor found by the trial court was supported by the evidence and, in particular, the four conclusions drawn from the record by the trial court. In contesting the applicability of the "avoid arrest" factor, Sweet simply offers a jury argument suggesting his own, alternative, view of the evidence.

Not one shred of evidence or argument has ever been offered to show why Sweet would attack Ms. Cofer other than to eliminate her as a witness. Not once has Sweet ever alleged any animosity towards Felicia Bryant or any reason for murdering her as an alternative to witness elimination. All we have been "offered" is the illogical and untenable notion that Sweet simply burst into Cofer's home and shot it up for absolutely no reason. All of Sweet's "haphazard shooting" arguments fail to address the central point: Why was Sweet there in the first place?

The answer, as found by the trial court, was witness elimination to head off his foreseeable arrest.

Sweet's intent to kill a person (or persons) who could possibly cause his arrest is at least as well established as similar intent in Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1204 (Fla.1980); Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla.1988) and Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla.1986). Kokal is particularly significant since there, as here, the victim presented no threat to the defendant except as a potential witness. The same held true in Harmon v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla.1985) and in Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla.1983). Again, while the prospect of identification cannot, standing along, prove this factor, Sweet's statement to Hansbury can combine with the other evidence to do so. See Lopez v. State, 536 So.2d 226 (Fla.1988); Routly, supra; Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla.1988).

Sweet's brief concludes by suggesting that the trial judge should have weighed the evidence prior to allowing the state to argue and then precluded the state from arguing for this factor unless the court had already prejudged the case in the state's favor. (Brief at 31). This unusual proposition ignores the (confessed) existence of supporting evidence and is simply too untenable to merit serious discussion.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE V

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT SWEET HAD PRIOR CONVICTIONS FOR VIOLENT FELONIES.

It should be noted at the outset that the statutory aggravating factor of "prior conviction for violent felony" was supported by several prior convictions for robbery and battery (as well as the conviction for attempted murder) in addition to the "possession" charge challenged here. Therefore, even if Mr. Sweet could prevail on this minor point, the applicability of this statutory aggravating factor and the propriety of his sentence would not in any way be affected. Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla.1989); Johnson v. State, 465 So.2d 499 (Fla.1985).

Johnson, id., relying upon Mann v. State, 420 So.2d 578 (Fla.1982) and Mann v. State, 453 So.2d 784 (Fla.1989), held that certain felonies that are not violent per se can qualify for consideration if the underlying facts support a finding that the crime was violent. In our case, Sweet's "possession" of a gun involved his use of the gun as a club to beat his victim. Facially, therefore, the consideration of this factor by the sentencer was proper.

Although the Appellant did not raise the issue, we would note that Johnson requires the court, when including a possibly "nonviolent" felony in its instructions on "violent" prior

convictions, to instruct the jury that it must find that the particular felony was "violent" (based on its facts) prior to weighing it. This special instruction was not given in this case, but we submit that any error was harmless given Sweet's many other violent felony convictions for armed robbery, riot, battery and attempted murder. Johnson, id; Bundy, supra.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE VI

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RECONSIDERATION OF HIS NON-CAPITAL SENTENCES.

Mr. Sweet was convicted of three additional counts of attempted first degree murder and one count of burglary (while armed) "with assault or battery."

The attempted murders were all first degree felonies under § 777.04, Fla. Stat. and were punishable under § 775.082, .083 or .084, Fla. Stat.

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